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CONDITION CHECK ONE CHECK ONE

__EXCELLENT __DETERIORATED X UNALTERED
XGoop __RUINS

—FAIR ) __UNEXPOSED

XORIGINAL SITE
__ALTERED __MOVED DATE_

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Northwest-Jones School comsists of two buildings located on the
northwest corner of Albany Avenue and Woodland Street in the northwest
section of Hartford. Albany Avenue is a section of the Albany Turnpike
dating from Colonial times and is now U.S. Route 4L, running from down-
town Hartford to West Hartford and Bloomfield. Woodland Street runs
north from Farmington Avenue past St. Francis Hospital to Keney Park.
Thus, the corner of Albany Avenue and Woodland Street on which the
school is located is the intersection of two important traffic arteries.

The oblong site of the school in its narrow dimension runs '
approximately 200 feet along Albany- Avenue- and. in- its: long dimension
765 feet. along Woedland Street-to Greenfield Street. In-addition- to
the school.buildings the -site includes about an acré of grass and a
large paved playgrdund area. Abutting to the west is Fox Middle
School, and across Greenfield Street to the north is Keney Park.

The older and smaller school building (see plot plan, Building
#1) faces Albany Avenue west of Woodland Street. Constructed of red
brick with brownstone foundations and trim, it consists of two stories
plus attic under gable roof. The simple, well proportioned design of
the building centers on a shallow arched entranceway on either side of
which are three windows at both first and second story levels. Over the
entrance is a tripartite window, its two side lights each having a
series of six oval pamnes. This window is the building's sole decora-
tive embellishment. The cornice under the eaves is plain and the
lintels and sills are simple brownstone.

[t Phe building ends’ continue the straight forward design with
their gables serving as pediments, each with a round window in the
center. - To the Tear (North) is a two story brick ell. A single square
chimney rises from the center of the roof over the front entrance.

‘ The larger-building, ten times the size of the smaller one, has
50 rooms and 97,000 square feet. Long and narrow in plan, it runs
along Woodland Street, is two stories plus attic in height, and,in depth,
two rooms separated by a hallway. Built in four distinct sections over
the years 1898-1914, the completed structure is a single well conceived
school building. "

The principal entrance is located in the center block (plot plan,
section 3) which is flanked by symmetrical wings (plot plan, sections
2 and 4) while at the south end is a separate department (plot plan,
section 5) with its own entrance from Woodland Street. Constructed in
red brick with brownstone trim, the school has round arch doorways in -
the Richardsonian Romanesque mode, but the massing and detailing owe
something to the Renaissance Revival, while the vast roof shows the
late nineteenth century trend away from jagged Victorian rooflines.

Articulation of the fenestration is sophisticated. The central
third of the mainrsection,(B) slightly recessed for emphasis, is given
over to a composition centered on the entranceway. The entrance itself
is a heavy Romanesque wall surface. The second and third floor levels

of this section are handled as a single design unit in which two-story

Continued
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"STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

.. When the school. was. built. (1896-1914). it was; called, Northwest
School Its‘name was. changed to Jongs .Junior High. School An- 1937 apon
the retlrement of Frank O. Jones who had been: dits- pr1pcapal for .29.¥ears.
Jones came to Hartford in 1908 to serve as Superintendent of the North-
west School District and principal of the school , which he did until
Northwest and other independent school districts were comnsolidated into
the Hartford Board of Education. He then continued as principal of North-
west School. At the time of his retirement he was dean of Hartford school
principals and was known for his advocacy of special classes for excep-
tionally able students.

From annual reports of the Board of School Visitors of the Town
of Hartford (predecessor of the Board of Education) and from city atlases
and land records it is apparent that the first school building at this
location was erected in 1870/71. In 1890/91 it was altered and enlarged,
the event being noted in the annual report by the entry, "The Northwest
Distriet has erected a fine addition to its housé.¥ The ‘smalier building
(1) as it now stands may be that "fine addition" or it may date from
1870/71.- In -any event, this first building ‘was originally comstructed on
the site now occupied by section (5). As compared with most contemporary
public buildings’ with their irregular rooflinesy ‘asymmetrical massing,
and exten51ve ornamentatlon, this schoolhouse is simple in d651gn and
mass.

PR

The 1899 School Visitors report stated that a new bhlldlng was
planned for the site of the present structure and was to be erected in
sections with the first section to cost $50,000. The 1900 report had a
fine picture of the small building (l) on its original site with new
wing (2) in place. The report observed that "...recent opening of large
tracts of land in this district for residential purposes will cause
increase in registration." Pursuant to this expectation, the central
block (3) was constructed in 1906, the north wing (4) in 1910, and in 1914
the original school (1) was moved to its present site to make room for the
Primary Department (5).

Thus, the district in 1898 foresaw the coming growth in school
age population and laid its plans to deal with the trend. Over the next
sixteen years the building program went forward, timed to meet the growth
in number of students. The final result was a building of superb unity.
It is a highly professional exercise in late Richardsonian Romanesque,
restrained yet with a plasticity which marks the architect as a talented
practitioner in the profession. The great sloping roof with large but

continued
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pilasters and round arches create a colossal arcade. The third floor
here (the other sections have only two) adds to the prominence of the
central block and also provides the school's assembly hall. Thus, an
attractive and imposing entrance facade is created, which simultan-
eously solves the problem of placing the auditorium while avoiding the
engineering problem of classrooms above it.

The wings (2) and (4) are notable for their two-story, three
sided bays whose shape carries through the dormers and into the dormer

roofs. In the wings the windows of the first floor ar

e in two parts.
The lower,

principal part.is conventional one-over-one sash. Above
it is a smaller rectangular transom window of twelve panes. Second
floor fenestration is similar to that of the first floor except that
the small upper windows have round arches repeating the arch of the
principal entrance. Subtle accent is given to the bays by using
rectangular rather than round headed upper windows in their second

stories. Diaper pattern brick is laid in the section of the wall
above the second-story window lintels up to the roof line, which

includes the round headed windows. This change in wall texture adds
strength to the horizontal emphasis of the long row of round headed
windows.

At the end of each wing are dormered pavilions, giving weight
to the ends of the building and strongly terminating the facade.

These pavilions echo the projecting sections of the center block which
flank the main entrance.
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Addendum

Further search of Board of Education archives has turned up additional draw-
ings which throw more light on the designers of various sections of the school.
One drawing establishes that Hapgood and Hapgood, a Hartford firm, was responsible
for the overall concept of the Woodland Street building.

This important drawing (undated) is labelled "Heat and Venti]ating Stacks'' and
shows the facade of the main entrance section (3). Melvin H. and Edward T. Hapgood,
cousins, practiced together only a few years. Melvin H. died in 1899 at the age
of 40; immediately afterwards Edward T. dropped the firm name and practiced under
his own name. Thus, the latest possible year for the 'Heat and Ventilating
Stacks'' drawing is 1899. From the School Visitors' report it is known that this
same year the first addition (2) was built. Consequently, the overall plan must

have been worked out by Hapgood and Hapgood in 1899, the year in which the
addition (2) was bujlt.

Another drawing which has turned up is a 1910 drawing by Johnson and Burns. As
Edward T. Hapgood was practicing at this time, the question of why a change was
made in architects is intriguing but unanswered. In any event, the evidence now
indicates that Isaac A, Allen, Jr., designed the 1890 building (1), Hapgood and

Hapgood designed (2), (3), and (&), while Johnson and Burns executed (4), and
designed and executed (5).
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low dormers and with chimneys arranged like marching men reflect a
Philip Webb influence usually found in domestic architecture and not
elsewhere matched in Hartford.

One indication of good planning was the manner in which the
problem presented by the auditorium was resolved to the benefit of
the overall design. It was customary at the time to put a school's
auditorium in the top floor, thereby elimanating the need to face the
challenge of how to support school rooms above it, Here the audi-
torium is in the central block of the building, giving this section
strength and prominence in design by making it three stories tall
against two stories in the long wings, and giving opportunity for the
two-story arcade over the entrance arch.

The many large, tall chimneys are all ventilating stacks. The
heating plant from the beginning was in a separate small building.
The stacks rising from the school's roof are an indication of the
importance attached at the time to proper ventilation and presumably
are part of a gravity system of air circulation dependent on the
brinciple of warm air rising.

The reports of the Board of School Visitors fail to mention
the architect for the building program, However, the obituary of
Isaac A. Allen, Jr. (1859-1953) published 3 April 1953 by the
Hartford Times states that he designed "early units of....Northwest
School." Quite possibly Sections (1) and (2) are meant by the phrase
"early units,"

On the question of who designed the balance of the school,
advertisements in Geer's Hartford City Directory by the firm Johnson
and Burns (William D. Johnson and Thomas C. Burns) are informative.
The firm listed in its ads a selection of its executed commissions,
Advertisements from 1901 through 1905 do not list the Northwest
School, but from 1906 on they do include Northwest, suggesting that
sections (3), (4), and (5) are the work of this firm. The Hartford
Board of Education has blueprint copies of the Johnson
signed and dated, for the 1914 Section (5).

If in fact Allen did Section (2), then the faithfulness with
which Johnson and Burns carried out the spirit of his work in the
balance of the school is remarkable, for the final result is a single
structure of great integrity,

Both the small Section (1) structure and the large building
are now used as schools. At the end of the 1976-1977 school vear the

larger building will be closed. The small building is to continue
in use,

and Burns plans,



